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The A11 Saints Church or, as it is currently called, the Chapel of Our Merciful
Savior, is a small brick church building located in the iiorth Denver residential
neighiorhood of Highlands. It is sited on the scutheast corner of lest 32nd Avenue
and Wyandot Street. The area is primarily residential dating back to the 1320's with
a commercial strip along liest 32nd Avenue made up of small local businesses.

The style of the church is Victorian German Gothic, rectangular in shape, with the
front facing west onto Wyandot Streat and a square tower on the northwest corner of
the front facade.

There is a gabled narthex on the front, next to the tower, with thz main entrance
into the church in the center. The entrance is recessed within aGothic arch which is
outlined with Tight-colored rusticated stone. The wooden, double doors are paneled in
the Tower portion, and the upper half of each has two narrow rectanqular lights.
Above the docrs is decorated by a trefoil within a circle,

Behind the narthex the west front of the main part of the church is gauled,
which cchoes the gable of the narthex. The focal point of the west front is the
beaytiful rose window, centered in the gable and outlined in rusticated stone similar
to the main entrance. The rose window has the trefoil repeated around the perimeter.
The predominate colors of the glass in the window are reds, yellows and blues. In
the top portion of the gable there is decorative brick work in a pattern of recessed
squares. The top of the gable is crowned by a simple cross.

The front facade of the tower has a narrow Gothic window in the center of the
lower portion, above which is an inset of rusticated stone with a carved trefoil in
tiie center. On both front corners of the tower are buttresses. The upper portion of
the tower is separated from the lower by a plain cornice, under which is a course
of Jecorative corbeling.

The front of the tower has a large recessed Cothic arched window which takes up
most of the width of the tower. The pointed portion of the arch is outlined in
rusticatad stone above which is another course of corbeling.. The tower is topped with
a Nerman style steeple faced with shingles and topped by a cross. There is a triandular
decorative element approximately one third of the way above the eave line.

The side entrance into the church is on the Yest 32nd Avenue side (north side)
of the tower. There are Sothic arched windows, witih buttresses between, along the
north side of the building,

The interior of the church is unaltered (pictures #2 & 3) with the original
pews, floors, interior walls, unique hammer beams with wainscoted cci]?ng in herring-
bone pattern and the lovely rose window. The original orcan installed in late 1391
is still in use touay.
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The Chapel of Cur Herciful Savior, built in 1290 as A1l Saints Episcopal
Church, tnhe second cldest tpiscopal Church structure erected in Denver, is significant
both historically and architecturally. It stands today, virtually unaltered or changed
since the day it was finished, as an excellent example of the small church designed to
sarve a parish of working class - lower middle class families. The building has added
significance since it is the work of James ilurdoch, an important architect in Denver
in the lTate 19th and early 20th centuries.

A1l Saints Episcopal parish traces its origins to 1374 when it was organized
as a mission by Sister Eliza Barton under the auspices of Bishop John F. Spalding.
For some 1 years the congregation of the wmission met in buildings on the corner of
15th and Central Avenues, Highlands. On December 4, 1389, the parish was formally
orcanized and early the following year the old ciaurch building was sold and new land
purcnased on the southeast corner of Fairview Avenues and fGray Strect, now named Yest
32nd Avenue and ilyandot Street. Tne building permit was issued April 26, 1890, and
listed J. llurdoch as architect and . J. Frisk as buildér. The church was completed on
September 14, 1520, and was known as A1l Saints Parish Church until Auqust €, 1961,
when a new, larger church was dedicated at iest 37th Avenue and Yates Street. The
old structure was renanied "The Chapel of Our Merciful Savior" and is still used for
services.

After the Civil lar there was a large inTlux of English, %ermans, Scots, Welch,
and Cernisimen, as well as those from the eastern and southern states into Colorado.
Rutiv Uiberg states in her recent book, Rediscovering Horthwest Denver, "There were
so many Germans that from 1877 to 1599 Colorado statutes required that Taws be
published in SGerman as well as in English and Spanish. Many of these fGermans settled
in Horth Uenver, possibly because of the large number of their nationality employed
by Zang and the other breweries along the Platte." These larce numbers of Germans
orobably explain in part the cheice of architecture for A1l Saints Church.

In 1393 when silver was demonetized and many of the silver mines were closed,
the parisa experienced a large influx of ilelsh and Cornish miners. Few of the new
arrivals were wealthy, but they were proud and independent and worked at whatever
was available to hold their fanilies tonether. Thais "working class - Tower riiddle
class" ecunoinic profile seemed to set the pattern for the income levels of parishioners
A11 Saints Church vas to have for the next fifty years or so. The parish itself
numbercu 150 communicants in 1324/35 and never exceeded 500 in its nistory at that
location. Conseyuently the parisih was never "rich" and funds were simply never
available to alter or "modernize" the structure. The building remains today virtually
the same as the day it was built - - with its oricinal news, floor, interior walls,

unique hammer Leam construction with wainscoted ceiling in herringbone pattern and
lovely rose window. The original tracker-action organ, made by Farrand and Votey,
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(picture #4) was installed in 1291 and first used January 31, 1892, and is still in use
today. The baptismal font is unique since it was carved from Carrara marble by a
parisinioner, Llsie lard Herring, wiio was a pupil of 5t. Gauden. (picture #3)

The most prowinent individual associated with this small parish was the Reverend
Frederick i. Oakes, who was the second Rector of the church and the only man ever
ordained deacon or priest at A1l Saints Church. In 1294 Reverend Oakes founded a
home at test 32nd Avenue and Eliot Street for tubercular persons. It was the second
tubercular "home" in the United States. In 1837 the "home" had grown so large that
leverend Oakes resigned as Rector of All Saints to devote full time to it. When
Oakes retired in 1934 and the "home" was closed, it had treated over 20,000 pat1enta
during its forty years of operation. Reverend Oakes named the chapel at the "“home",
"The Chapel of Our Merciful Savior", and this name was used in memory of Oakes when
the old structure at 32nd and lyandot was renamed.

While a comprehensive history of architects practicing in Denver and in Colorado
in the Tate 19th and early 20th centuries has yet to be written, information available
about James [lurdoch indicates that he was an important architect durina that period.

He was active in establishing the Rocky !lountain Association of Architects in 1890

and was elected its first treasurer., In Hay of 1891 the Colorado Association of
Architects was formed out of this organization and Murdoch was again elected treasurer.
This second organization became the Colorado Ciiapter of the American Institute of
Architects, and lurdoch is , in effect, a charter member of the chapter. From 1396 to 1898
Murdoch was the superintendent of the State Capitol with offices in the State Capitol
Building, Room 13. This position meant that he was the architect in charge of the
construction of the State Capitol building. Records show that Murdoch designed the
fo]10w1ng buildings: residence for John C. Gallup at 1763 Willians Street, completed

in 1391, since deno]1sned the residence for T. E. Swarz, on Pearl Street between

13th and 11th Avenues, comp]eted in 1890 and since demo11shed Simon Guggenheim Hall

at the Colorado School of Mines.

In July, 1977, the Denver C1tj Council des1gnated A1l Saints Episcopal Church,

(The Chapel of Our iierciful Savior), the 100th Denver Landmark upon recommendation
from the Denver Landmark Preservation Cormission.

This attractive church is an important landmark in the neighborhood since it is
situated on the corner of llest 32nd Avenue, one of the main thoroughfares of ilorth
denver. It appears very nwuch as when it was built, with very few alterations except
for the paint on the brick, a soft brick pink color, and the boarded up windows on
the second level of the tower. It is intended that the church continue its present
use as a place of worship for the neighborhood.
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